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573695-W

Ornapaper Berhad 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Directors' report

Principal activities

Results

Group Company

RM'000 RM'000

Profit, net of tax, attributable to:

Owners of the parent 8,032           3,720           

Non-controlling interest 141              -               

8,173           3,720           

Dividend

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial 

statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and provision of management 

services. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are manufacturing and sale of corrugated 

boards and carton boxes.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these principal activities during the 

financial year.

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other 

than as disclosed in the financial statements.

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company since the end of the previous financial 

year. 

In the opinion of the directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company 

during the financial year were not substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a 

material and unusual nature.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the current financial year.
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573695-W

Ornapaper Berhad 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Directors

Sai Chin Hock

See Wan Seng

Ang Kwee Teng

Siow Kee Yen

Datuk Adillah binti Ahmad Nordin

Tan Chin Hwee (appointed on 22 January 2014)

Tuan Haji Azhar bin Nayan (resigned on 31 December 2013)

Directors' benefits

Directors' interests

1.1.2013 Acquired Sold 31.12.2013

Direct interest

Sai Chin Hock 846,400       -                -               846,400       

Ang Kwee Teng 10,000         -                -               10,000         

Siow Kee Yen 230,500       -                -               230,500       

Tuan Haji Azhar bin Nayan 25,000         -                25,000         -               

Datuk Adillah binti Ahmad Nordin 34,000         -                -               34,000         

According to the register of directors' shareholdings, the interests of directors in office at the end 

of the financial year in shares in the Company and its related corporations during the financial 

year were as follows:

Number of ordinary shares of RM1 each

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to 

receive a benefit (other than benefits included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received 

or due and receivable by the directors or the fixed salary of a full-time employee of the Company 

as shown in Note 14 to the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company 

or a related corporation with any director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a 

company in which he has a substantial financial interest except for those transactions mentioned 

in Note 32 to the financial statements. 

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any 

arrangement to which the Company was a party, whereby the directors might acquire benefits 

by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate. 

The names of the directors of the Company in office since the date of the last report and at the 

date of this report are:
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573695-W

Ornapaper Berhad 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Directors' interests (continued)

1.1.2013 Acquired Sold 31.12.2013

Indirect interest

Sai Chin Hock 22,305,798  -                -               22,305,798  

Ang Kwee Teng 18,634,888  -                -               18,634,888  

See Wan Seng 18,634,888  -                -               18,634,888  

Treasury shares

Other statutory information

(a)

(i)

(ii)

Sai Chin Hock, Ang Kwee Teng and See Wan Seng, by virtue of their interests in shares in the 

Company, are also deemed interested in shares in all the Company's subsidiaries to the extent 

that the Company has an interest.

Before the statements of comprehensive income and the statements of financial position of 

the Group and of the Company were made out, the directors took reasonable steps: 

to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts 

and the making of provision for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known 

bad debts had been written off and that adequate provision had been made for doubtful 

debts; and

to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in 

the accounting records in the ordinary course of business had been written down to an 

amount which they might be expected so to realise.

During the financial year, the Company repurchased 71,400 of its issued ordinary shares from 

the open market at the average price of RM0.73 per share. The total consideration paid for the 

repurchase including transaction costs was RM52,291. The shares repurchased are being held 

as treasury shares in accordance with Section 67A of the Companies Act, 1965.

As at 31 December 2013, the Company held as treasury shares a total of 1,098,445 of its 

75,251,000 issued ordinary shares. Such treasury shares are held at a carrying amount of 

RM540,700 and further relevant details are disclosed in Note 30 to the financial statements.

Number of ordinary shares of RM1 each
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Ornapaper Berhad 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Other statutory information (continued)

(b)

(i) 

(ii) 

(c)

(d)

(e) As at the date of this report, there does not exist:-

(i)

(ii)

(f) In the opinion of the directors:-

(i)

(ii) no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval 

between the end of the financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect 

substantially the results of the operations of the Group or of the Company for the 

financial year in which this report is made.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would 

render: 

the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts in 

the financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any 

substantial extent; and

the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and 

of the Company misleading. 

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have 

arisen which would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or 

liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become 

enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which 

will or may affect the ability of the Group or of the Company to meet their obligations 

when they fall due; and

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise 

dealt with in this report or financial statements of the Group and of the Company which 

would render any amount stated in the financial statements misleading.

any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the 

end of the financial year which secures the liabilities of any other person; or

any contingent liability of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end 

of the financial year.
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Ornapaper Berhad 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Statements of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2013

 Note 2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Revenue 8 245,625     229,336     5,332         7,409         

Cost of goods sold (200,374)   (187,779)   -            

Gross profit 45,251       41,557       5,332         7,409         

Other items of income

Interest income 9 116           70             107           4               

Other income 10 1,749         586           -            -            

Other items of expense

Administrative expenses (9,969)       (8,350)       (204)          (178)          

Selling and marketing expenses (16,169)     (13,783)     (7)              (7)              

Other expenses (7,069)       (8,072)       (59)            (74)            

Operating profit 13,909       12,008       5,169         7,154         

Finance costs 11 (3,371)       (3,402)       -            -            

Profit before tax 12 10,538       8,606         5,169         7,154         

Income tax expense 15 (2,365)       (1,161)       (1,449)       (1,800)       

Profit, net of tax, representing

 total comprehensive income

 for the year 8,173         7,445         3,720         5,354         

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent 8,032         7,285         3,720         5,354         

Non-controlling interest 141           160           -            -            

8,173         7,445         3,720         5,354         

Earnings per share attributable

 to owners of the parent (sen)

Basic 16 10.8          9.8            

Diluted 16 10.8          9.8            

form an integral part of the financial statements

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory information 

       Group       Company
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Ornapaper Berhad 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Statements of financial position

As at 31 December 2013

 Note 2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 17 101,980     101,837     -             -             

Land use rights 18 4,292         4,422         -             -             

Investment in subsidiaries 19 -             -             94,158       85,085       

Goodwill 20 1,633         1,633         -             -             

Deferred tax assets 27 1,673         1,170         -             -             

109,578     109,062     94,158       85,085       

Current assets

Inventories 21 33,472       22,594       -             -             

Trade and other receivables 22 60,830       54,629       5                4,968         

Other current assets 23 4,892         1,639         1                1                

Tax recoverable 290            647            35              151            

Cash and bank balances 24 10,044       19,111       2,130         2,453         

109,528     98,620       2,171         7,573         

Total assets 219,106     207,682     96,329       92,658       

Equity and liabilities

Current liabilities

Borrowings 25 51,189       55,260       -             -             

Trade and other payables 26 30,205       23,121       36              33              

Current tax payable 97              179            -             -             

81,491       78,560       36              33              

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 25 7,734         9,106         -             -             

Deferred tax liabilities 27 6,643         4,899         -             -             

Non-current liabilities 14,377       14,005       -             -             

Total liabilities 95,868       92,565       36              33              

       Group       Company
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Ornapaper Berhad 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Statements of financial position

As at 31 December 2013 (continued)

 Note 2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Equity attributable to owners

 of the parent

Share capital 28 75,251       75,251       75,251       75,251       

Share premium 29 11,156       11,156       11,156       11,156       

Treasury shares 30 (541)           (489)           (541)           (489)           

Retained earnings 31 36,474       28,442       10,427       6,707         

122,340     114,360     96,293       92,625       

Non-controlling interest 898            757            -             -             
Total equity 123,238     115,117     96,293       92,625       

Total equity and liabilities      219,106      207,682        96,329        92,658 

Net current assets 28,037       20,060       2,135         7,540         

Net assets 123,238     115,117     96,293       92,625       

       Group       Company

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory information 

form an integral part of the financial statements

12



573695-W

Ornapaper Berhad 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Statements of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Distributable Attributable Non-

Share Share Treasury Retained to owners of controlling Total

Note capital premium shares earnings the parent interest equity

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Group

2013

Opening balance at 1 January 2013 75,251      11,156        (489)           28,442            114,360          757             115,117      

Total comprehensive income -           -             -             8,032              8,032              141             8,173          

Transaction with owners

Purchase of treasury shares 30 -           -             (52)             -                 (52)                  -              (52)             

Closing balance at  31 December 2013 75,251      11,156        (541)           36,474            122,340          898             123,238      

2012

Opening balance at 1 January 2012 75,251      11,156        -             21,157            107,564          597             108,161      

Total comprehensive income -           -             -             7,285              7,285              160             7,445          

Transaction with owners

Purchase of treasury shares 30 -           -             (489)           -                 (489)                -              (489)           

Closing balance at  31 December 2012 75,251      11,156        (489)           28,442            114,360          757             115,117      

        Non-distributable 
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573695-W

Ornapaper Berhad 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Statements of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued)

Distributable

Share Share Treasury Retained Total

Note capital premium shares earnings equity

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Company

2013

Opening balance at

1 January 2013 75,251  11,156    (489)        6,707             92,625  

Total comprehensive income -        -         -          3,720             3,720    

Transaction with owners

Purchase of treasury shares 30 -        -         (52)          -                 (52)        

Closing balance at 

31 December 2013 75,251  11,156    (541)        10,427           96,293  

Opening balance at 

1 January 2012 75,251  11,156    -          1,353             87,760  

Total comprehensive income -        -         -          5,354             5,354    

Transaction with owners

Purchase of treasury shares 30 -        -         (489)        -                 (489)      

Closing balance at 

31 December 2012 75,251  11,156    (489)        6,707             92,625  

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory information 

form an integral part of the financial statements

        Non-distributable 
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573695-W

Ornapaper Berhad 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Statements of cash flows

For the year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Operating activities

Profit before tax 10,538        8,606          5,169         7,154         

Adjustments for:

Impairment loss on financial assets:

 - Trade receivables -              29               -             -             

 - Other receivables -              118             -             -             

Bad debts written off 669             276             -             -             

Depreciation and amortisation:

 -  Property, plant and equipment 9,815          8,500          -             -             

 -  Land use rights 130             131             -             -             

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property,

plant and equipment (176)            791             -             -             

Property, plant and equipment

written off 1,530          1,092          -             -             

Reversal of allowance for impairment 

loss on trade receivables (695)            (31)              -             -             

Unrealised gain on foreign exchange (64)              -              -             -             

Interest expense 3,371          3,402          -             -             

Interest income (116)            (70)              (107)           (4)               

Total adjustments 14,464        14,238        (107)           (4)               

Operating cash flows before

changes in working capital 25,002        22,844        5,062         7,150         

Changes in working capital

Increase in inventories (10,878)       (568)            -             -             

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (6,111)         (184)            4,963         5,298         

(Increase)/decrease in other

current assets (3,253)         3,684          -             9                

Increase in payables 7,084          4,159          3                3                

Total changes in working capital (13,158)       7,091          4,966         5,310         

Cash flows from operations 11,844        29,935        10,028       12,460       

Interest paid (3,371)         (3,402)         -             -             

Interest received 116             70               107            4                

Taxes paid (1,017)         (660)            (1,333)        (1,802)        

Taxes refunded 168             -              -             -             

Net cash from operating activities 7,740          25,943        8,802         10,662       

         Group         Company
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573695-W

Ornapaper Berhad 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Statements of cash flows

For the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued)

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and

equipment (8,834)         (10,879)       -             -             

Additional subscription in shares 

in subsidiaries -              -              (9,073)        (7,900)        

Proceeds from disposal of property,

plant and equipment 223             734             -             -             

Increase in deposits with a licensed

bank (1,711)         (855)            -             -             

Net cash used in investing

 activities (10,322)       (11,000)       (9,073)        (7,900)        

Financing activities

Drawdown of term loans 1,000          4,856          -             -             

Repayment of term loans (2,277)         (1,949)         -             -             

Repayment of finance lease payables (2,457)         (2,865)         -             -             

Decrease in short-term borrowings (6,188)         (1,630)         -             -             

Purchase of treasury shares (52)              (489)            (52)             (489)           

Net cash used in financing

 activities (9,974)         (2,077)         (52)             (489)           

Net (decrease)/increase in cash

and cash equivalents (12,556)       12,866        (323)           2,273         

Cash and cash equivalents

at 1 January 16,362        3,496          2,453         180            

Cash and cash equivalents

at 31 December (Note 24) 3,806          16,362        2,130         2,453         

form an integral part of the financial statements

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory information 

         Group         Company
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Ornapaper Berhad 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2013

1. Corporate information

2. Basis of preparation

3. Basis of consolidation

-

- Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

- The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and 

of its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2013. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or 

has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect 

those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if 

and only if the Group has:

Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the 

relevant activities of the investee);

Ornapaper Berhad is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, 

and is listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The principal place of 

business is situated at No. 8998, Kawasan Perindustrian Peringkat IV, Batu Berendam, 75350 

Melaka, Malaysia.

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and provision of management 

services. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are manufacturing and sale of corrugated 

boards and carton boxes. There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal 

activities during the financial year.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian Financial 

Reporting Standards ("MFRS") as issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board 

("MASB"), International Financial Reporting Standards ("IRFS") as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

The financial statements have also been prepared on a historical basis, unless otherwise 

indicated in the accounting policies below.

The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia ("RM") and all values are rounded 

to the nearest thousand (RM'000) except when otherwise indicated.
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Ornapaper Berhad 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

3. Basis of consolidation (continued)

- The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

-

- The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

- Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;

- Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests;

- Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;

- Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;

- Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;

- Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and

-

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the 

Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over 

an investee, including:

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances 

indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation 

of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when 

the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a 

subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the statement of 

comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases 

to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income ("OCI") are attributed to the 

equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this 

results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments 

are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line 

with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, 

expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are 

eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as 

an equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in OCI to profit or 

loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly 

disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

18
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Ornapaper Berhad 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

4. Summary of significant accounting policies

4.1 Business combinations and goodwill

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities 

assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual 

terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This 

includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is re-

measured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in 

profit or loss. It is then considered in the determination of goodwill.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the 

consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests, and 

any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 

assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate 

consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of 

the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to 

measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the re-assessment still 

results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate 

consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an 

acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at 

acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. 

For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling 

interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s 

identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in 

administrative expenses.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair 

value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability 

that is a financial instrument and within the scope of MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement, is measured at fair value with changes in fair value 

recognised either in either profit or loss or as a change to OCI. If the contingent 

consideration is not within the scope of MFRS 139, it is measured in accordance with the 

appropriate MFRS. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-

measured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment 

losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business 

combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-

generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of 

whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

19
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Ornapaper Berhad 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

4.1 Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

4.2 Current versus non-current classification

-

-

-

-

All other assets are classified as non-current. A liability is current when:

-

-

-

-

All other liabilities are classified as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

4.3 Fair value measurement

- In the principal market for the asset or liability; or

It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;

It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or

There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 

twelve months after the reporting period.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 

in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair 

value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or 

transfer the liability takes place either:

Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or

It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle;

Assets and liabilities in statements of financial position are presented based on 

current/non-current classification. An asset is current when it is:

Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a 

liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

Expected to be realised or intended to sold or consumed in normal operating cycle;

Held primarily for the purpose of trading;

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation 

within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is 

included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on 

disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative 

values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

20



573695-W

Ornapaper Berhad 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

4.3 Fair value measurement (continued)

-

Level 1 - 

Level 2 - 

Level 3 - 

In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset 

or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group or by 

the Company.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market 

participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market 

participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market 

participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and 

best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its 

highest and best use.

Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 

data are available, are used to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant 

observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial 

statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on 

the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities

Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 

fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable

Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 

fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring 

basis, the Group and the Company determine whether transfers have occurred between 

levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest Level input 

that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting 

period.

Policies and procedures are determined by senior management for both recurring fair 

value measurement and for non-recurring measurement.
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Ornapaper Berhad 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

4.3 Fair value measurement (continued)

4.4 Foreign currencies

(a) Functional and presentation currency 

(b) Transactions and balances

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at 

the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, classes of assets and liabilities are determined 

based on the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the 

fair value hierarchy as explained above.

At each reporting date, the senior management analyses the movements in the values of 

assets and liabilities which are required to be re-measured or re-assessed according to 

the accounting policies of the Group and of the Company. For this analysis, the senior 

management verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the 

information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents.

The senior management, in conjunction with the external valuers, also compares the   

changes in the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant external sources to 

determine whether the change is reasonable.

The Group’s and the Company's financial statements are presented in Ringgit 

Malaysia which is also the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group 

determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial 

statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group's entities at 

their respective functional currency rates at the date the transaction first qualifies 

for recognition.

External valuers are involved for valuation of significant assets and significant liabilities. 

Involvement of external valuers is decided by senior management. Selection criteria 

include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional standards 

are maintained. The senior management decides, after discussions with the external 

valuers, which valuation techniques and inputs to use for each case.
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4.4 Foreign currencies (continued)

(b) Transactions and balances (continued)

4.5 Revenue recognition

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in 

profit or loss with the exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the 

hedge of the Group's net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised 

in other comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed of, at which 

time, the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss. Tax charges and credits 

attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in 

other comprehensive income. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 

currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial 

transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 

translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. 

The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value 

is treated in line with the recognition of gain or loss on change in fair value of the 

item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is 

recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss are also recognised in 

other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

Any goodwill arising in the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value 

adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the 

acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and 

translated at the spot rate of exchange at the reporting date.

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow 

to the Group and the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of 

when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 

consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of 

payment and excluding taxes or duty.

The Company and its subsidiaries assess their revenue arrangements against specific 

criteria in order to determine if the Company and its subsidiaries are acting as principal or 

agent. The Group and its subsidiaries have concluded that they are acting as a principal 

in all of its revenue arrangements. The following specific recognition criteria must also be 

met before revenue is recognised:
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4.5 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a) Sale of goods

(b) Dividend income

(c) Management fees

(d) Interest income

(e) Rental income

4.6 Employee benefits

(i) Short term benefits

Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an 

expense in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees. 

Short term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are 

recognised when services are rendered by employees that increase their 

entitlement to future compensated absences. Short term non-accumulating 

compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when the absences 

occur.

Management fees are recognised when services are rendered. 

Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s and the Company's right to 

receive payment is established. 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and 

rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer, usually on delivery of 

the goods. Revenue is not recognised to the extent where there are significant 

uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or the 

possible return of goods.

For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost and interest bearing 

financial assets classified as available for sale, interest income or expense is 

recorded using the effective interest rate ("EIR"), which is the rate that exactly 

discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life 

of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying 

amount of the financial asset or liability. Interest income is included in finance 

income in the profit or loss. 

Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. The 

aggregate costs of incentives provided to lessees are recognised as a reduction of 

rental income over the lease term on a straight-line basis. 
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4.6 Employee benefits (continued)

(ii) Defined contribution plans

4.7 Taxes

(a) Current income tax

(b) Deferred tax

-

-

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the 

amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax 

rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 

substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where the Group 

operates and generates taxable income.

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in 

equity and not in the profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions 

taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations 

are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the 

reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 

amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or 

an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at 

the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable 

profit or loss; and

In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 

subsidiaries when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can 

be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse 

in the foreseeable future.

The Group makes contributions to the Employees Provident Fund in Malaysia, a 

defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to defined contribution pension 

schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service is 

performed. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

25



573695-W

Ornapaper Berhad 

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

4.7 Taxes (continued)

(b) Deferred tax (continued)

-

-

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable 

right exists to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the 

deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry 

forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 

differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can 

be utilised, except:

where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference 

arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is 

not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 

the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in 

subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is 

probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future 

and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can 

be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and 

reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 

available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised 

deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to 

the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the 

deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected 

to apply in the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax 

rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 

reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside 

profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying 

transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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4.7 Taxes (continued)

(b) Deferred tax (continued)

(c) Sales tax

(i)

(ii)

4.8 Borrowing costs

4.9 Leases

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the 

criteria for separate recognition at that date, would be recognised subsequently if 

new information about facts and circumstances changed. The adjustment would 

either be treated as a reduction to goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) 

if it is incurred during the measurement period or in profit or loss.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is 

included as part of receivables or payables in the statements of financial position.

receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax 

included.

the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable 

from the taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of 

the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; 

and

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an 

asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use 

or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the respective assets. All other borrowing 

costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other 

costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the 

substance of the arrangement at the inception date. The arrangement is assessed for  

whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or 

assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if that right is 

not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax, 

except when: 
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4.9 Leases (continued)

(a) Group or Company as lessee

(b) Group or Company as lessor

4.10 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and/or 

accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing 

component parts of the property, plant and equipment and borrowing costs for long-term 

construction projects if the recognition criteria are met.

When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at 

intervals, the Group derecognises the replaced part, and recognises the new part with its 

own associated useful life and depreciation. Likewise, when a major inspection is 

performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a 

replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs 

are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. The present value of the expected cost for the 

decommissioning of the asset after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if 

the recognition criteria for a provision are met.

Finance leases that transfer substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to 

ownership of the leased item to the Group or to the Company, are capitalised at the 

commencement of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at 

the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are 

apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to 

achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 

charges are recognised in finance costs in profit or loss.

A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is 

no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease 

term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the 

asset and the lease term.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an operating expense in the income  

statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Leases in which the Group or the Company do not transfer substantially all the risks 

and benefits of ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. Initial 

direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying 

amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis 

as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which 

they are earned.
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4.10 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Leasehold land 47 to 99 years

Factory buildings 47 to 99 years

Plant and machinery 5 to 20 years

Other assets 5 to 10 years

4.11 Land use rights

4.12 Investment in subsidiaries 

4.13 Inventories

(a) Raw materials: purchase costs on a weighted average basis.

(b)

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the 

assets as follows:

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no  

future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on  

derecognition of the asset is included in the profit or loss in the year the asset is  

derecognised.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at 

each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

Land use rights are initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, land use rights 

are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

The land use rights are amortised over their lease terms. 

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and 

operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investment in subsidiaries is accounted 

for at cost less impairment losses. 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in 

bringing the inventories to their present location and condition are accounted for as 

follows: 

Finished goods and work-in-progress: Cost of direct materials and labour and a 

proportion of manufacturing overheads based on normal operating capacity but 

excluding borrowing costs
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4.13 Inventories (continued)

4.14 Cash and short-term deposits

4.15 Impairment of non-financial assets

Impairment losses of continuing operations, including impairment on inventories, are 

recognised in the statement of profit or loss in expense categories consistent with the 

function of the impaired asset.

Cash and short-term deposits in the statements of financial position comprise cash at 

banks and on hand and short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less. For 

the purposes of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash 

and short-term deposits, net of any outstanding bank overdrafts.

At each reporting date, an assessment is made as to whether there is an indication that 

an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for 

an asset is required, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable 

amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s ("CGU") fair value less costs 

of disposal and its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset 

unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those 

from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU 

exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to 

its recoverable amount.

Impairment calculation are based on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which 

are prepared separately for each CGU to which the individual assets are allocated. These 

budgets and forecast calculations generally cover a period of five years. For longer 

periods, a long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows 

after the fifth year.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 

estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 

value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 

value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of 

disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can 

be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated 

by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other 

available fair value indicators.
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4.15 Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

4.16 Financial instruments

4.17 Financial assets

(a) Initial recognition and measurement

For assets other than goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to 

determine whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses no 

longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 

asset or CGU is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if 

there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable 

amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the 

carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the 

carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no 

impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised 

in the statement of profit or loss.

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and 

a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually at reporting date and when circumstances 

indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Impairment is determined by assessing 

the recoverable amount of each CGU (or group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. 

When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an impairment 

loss is recognised. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future 

periods.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 

consolidated statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to 

offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise 

the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-

for-sale financial assets, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an 

effective hedge, as appropriate. All financial assets are recognised initially at fair 

value plus, in the case of financial assets not recorded at fair value through profit or 

loss, transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time 

frame established by regulation or convention in the market place (regular way 

trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group or the 

Company commit to purchase or sell the asset.
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4.17 Financial assets (continued)

(b) Subsequent measurement

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(ii) Loans and receivables

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four 

categories:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held 

for trading and financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value 

through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they 

are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. 

Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also classified as 

held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments 

as defined by MFRS 139. There were no financial assets designated at fair 

value through profit or loss. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes 

in fair value presented as finance costs (negative net changes in fair value) or 

finance income (positive net changes in fair value) in the statement of profit or 

loss.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate 

derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic characteristics and 

risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host 

contracts are not held for trading or designated at fair value though profit or 

loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in 

fair value recognised in profit or loss. Re-assessment only occurs if there is 

either a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash 

flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset 

out of the fair value through profit or loss.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After initial 

measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest rate ("EIR") method, less impairment. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium 

on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR 

amortisation is included in finance income in the statement of profit or loss. 

The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the statement of profit or 

loss in finance costs for loans and in cost of sales or other operating expenses 

for receivables. This category generally applies to trade and other receivables.
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4.17 Financial assets (continued)

(b) Subsequent measurement (continued)

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments

(iv) Available-for-sale ("AFS") financial investments

AFS financial investments include equity investments and debt securities. 

Equity investments classified as AFS are those that are neither classified as 

held for trading nor designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt 

securities in this category are those that are intended to be held for an 

indefinite period of time and that may be sold in response to needs for liquidity 

or in response to changes in the market conditions.

After initial measurement, AFS financial investments are subsequently 

measured at fair value with unrealised gains or losses recognised in other 

comprehensive income and credited in the AFS reserve until the investment is 

derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in other 

operating income, or the investment is determined to be impaired, when the 

cumulative loss is reclassified from the AFS reserve to the statement of profit 

or loss in finance costs. Interest earned whilst holding AFS financial 

investments is reported as interest income using the EIR method.

The ability and intention to sell its AFS financial assets in the near term are 

evaluated whether they are still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, 

these financial assets cannot be traded due to inactive markets, these 

financial assets will  be reclassified if the management has the ability and 

intention to hold the assets for foreseeable future or until maturity.

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 

maturities are classified as held-to-maturity when there is a positive intention 

and an ability to hold them to maturity. After initial measurement, held-to-

maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the EIR, less 

impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount 

or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the 

EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance income in the statement of 

profit or loss. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the 

statement of profit or loss as finance costs. There were no held-to-maturity 

investments during the reporting period.
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4.17 Financial assets (continued)

(b) Subsequent measurement (continued)

(iv) Available-for-sale ("AFS") financial investments (continued)

(c) Derecognition

- The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

-

For a financial asset reclassified from the AFS category, the fair value carrying 

amount at the date of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any 

previous gain or loss on the asset that has been recognised in equity is 

amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the investment using the 

EIR. Any difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount 

is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the EIR. If the 

asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in 

equity is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

When the rights to receive cash flows from an asset have been transferred or when 

a pass-through arrangement has been entered into, the Group and the Company 

evaluate if, and the extent of, the risks and rewards of ownership that have been 

retained. When substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset have not been 

transferred nor retained, the transferred asset continues to be recognised to the 

extent of the Group’s and the Company's continuing involvement. In that case, an 

associated liability is also recognised. The transferred asset and the associated 

liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations retained.

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group 

of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the 

statements of financial position) when:

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have been transferred or an 

obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third 

party has been assumed under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) 

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset have been transferred or (b) 

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset have  neither been 

transferred nor retained but control of the asset has been transferred.
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(d) Impairment of financial assets

(i) Financial assets carried at amortised cost

At each reporting date, an assessment is made as to whether there is objective 

evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. An 

impairment exists if one or more events that has occurred since the initial 

recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’), has an impact on the estimated 

future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be 

reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors 

or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or 

delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter 

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that 

there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as 

changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an assessment is made as to 

whether impairment exists individually (for financial assets that are individually 

significant) or collectively (for financial assets that are not individually 

significant). If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists 

for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the 

asset is included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk 

characteristics and collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are 

individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or 

continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of 

impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 

cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been 

incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted 

at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 
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4.17 Financial assets (continued)

(d) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

(ii) Available-for-sale ("AFS") investments

For AFS financial investments, an assessment is made at each reporting date 

whether there is objective evidence that an investment or a group of 

investments is impaired.

In the case of equity investments classified as AFS, objective evidence would 

include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment 

below its cost. ‘Significant’ is evaluated against the original cost of the 

investment and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the fair value has been 

below its original cost. When there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative 

loss (measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current 

fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised 

in the statement of profit or loss) is removed from other comprehensive 

income and recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on 

equity investments are not reversed through profit or loss; increases in their 

fair value after impairment are recognised in other comprehensive income.

In the case of debt instruments classified as AFS, the impairment is assessed 

based on the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost. 

However, the amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative loss 

measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair 

value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in 

the statement of profit or loss.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 

account and the loss is recognised in statement of profit or loss. Interest 

income (recorded as finance income in the statement of profit or loss) 

continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using 

the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of 

measuring the impairment loss. Loans together with the associated allowance 

are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all 

collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group or the 

Company. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment 

loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the 

impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is 

increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later 

recovered, the recovery is credited to finance costs in the statement of profit or 

loss. 
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4.17 Financial assets (continued)

(d) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(ii) Available-for-sale ("AFS") investments (continued)

4.18 Financial liabilities

(a) Initial recognition and measurement

(b) Subsequent measurement

(i) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the 

purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes 

derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not 

designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by MFRS  

139. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading 

unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

Future interest income continues to be accrued based on the reduced carrying 

amount of the asset, using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash 

flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is 

recorded as part of finance income. If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of a 

debt instrument increases and the increase can be objectively related to an 

event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the statement of 

profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the statement of profit or 

loss.

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans 

and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including 

bank overdrafts, financial guarantee contracts and derivative financial instruments.

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described 

below:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities 

held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at 

fair value through profit or loss.
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

4.18 Financial liabilities (continued)

(b) Subsequent measurement (continued)

(i) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

(ii) Loans and borrowings

This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

(c) Financial guarantee contracts

(d) Derecognition

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the profit or 

loss. 

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through 

profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the 

criteria in MFRS 139 are satisfied. No financial liability has been designated at 

fair value through profit or loss during the reporting period.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is 

discharged or cancelled, or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced 

by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 

existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 

treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new 

liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the 

statement of profit or loss.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and 

losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as 

well as through the EIR amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium 

on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR 

amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Company are those contracts that 

require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because 

the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the 

terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contracts are recognised initially as 

a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to 

the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is measured at the higher 

of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at 

the reporting date and the amount recognised less cumulative amortisation.
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

4.18 Financial liabilities (continued)

(e) Offsetting of financial instruments

4.19 Provisions

4.20 Share capital and share issuance expenses

4.21 Treasury shares

4.22 Cash dividend and non-cash distribution to equity holders of the parent

Own equity instruments that are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and 

deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, 

issue or cancellation of such equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying 

amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognised in share premium.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the 

Group and of the Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are equity 

instruments and are recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable 

incremental transaction costs.

Provisions are recognised when there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 

result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 

benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 

amount of the obligation. When it is expected that some or all of a provision to be 

reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised 

as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense 

relating to a provision is presented in the statements of profit or loss net of any 

reimbursement.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in 

the consolidated statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable 

legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a 

net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

The Company recognises a liability to make cash or non-cash distributions to equity 

holders of the parent when the distribution is authorised and the distribution is no longer 

at the discretion of the Company. A distribution is authorised when it is approved by the 

shareholders and a corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity.
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4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

4.22 Cash dividend and non-cash distribution to equity holders of the parent (continued)

4.23 Contingencies

4.24 Segment reporting

5. New and amended standards and interpretations

Effective for annual periods

Description beginning on or after

1 July 2012 1 

1 January 2013

1 January 2013

MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 January 2013

MFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 1 January 2013

MFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January 2013

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the statements of financial position 

of the Group and of the Company.

On 1 January 2013, the Group and the Company adopted the following new and amended 

MFRS and IC Interpretations mandatory for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2013. 

A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events 

and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of 

uncertain future event(s) not wholly within the control of the Group. 

Non-cash distributions are measured at the fair value of the assets to be distributed with 

fair value re-measurement recognised directly in equity.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except 

as follows:

Amendments to MFRS 101: Presentation of Items of Other

 Comprehensive Income
MFRS 3 Business Combinations (IFRS 3 Business

 Combinations issued by IASB in March 2004)
MFRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

 (IAS 27 revised by IASB in December 2003)

Segment information is not disclosed as the Group operates solely in Malaysia and is 

principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale of one product line, that is, corrugated 

boards and carton boxes. 

Upon distribution of non-cash assets, any difference between the carrying amount of the 

liability and the carrying amount of the assets distributed is recognised in the statement of 

profit or loss.
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5. New and amended standards and interpretations (continued)

Effective for annual periods

Description beginning on or after

MFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 1 January 2013

1 January 2013

1 January 2013

1 January 2013

1 January 2013

1 January 2013

Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle 1 January 2013

Amendments to MFRS 1: Government Loans 1 January 2013

1 January 2013

MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

MFRS 119 Employee Benefits (IAS 19 as amended by IASB

 in June 2011)

Amendments to MFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Offsetting Financial Assets and 

Financial Liabilities)

These amendments include additional information that will enable users of an entity’s financial 

statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, including rights of 

set-off associated with the entity’s recognised financial assets and recognised financial 

liabilities, on the entity’s financial position. The amendment affects disclosure only and has no 

impact on the Group's and the Company's financial position or performance.

MFRS 10 replaces part of MFRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that 

deals with consolidated financial statements and IC Interpretation 112 Consolidation – Special 

Purpose Entities.

Under MFRS 10, an investor controls an investee when (a) the investor has power over an 

investee, (b) the investor has exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 

the investee, and (c) the investor has ability to use its power over the investee to affect the 

amount of the investor’s returns. Under MFRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 

Statements, control was defined as the power to govern the financial and operating policies of 

an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

MFRS 10 includes detailed guidance to explain when an investor has control over the investee. 

MFRS 10 requires the investor to take into account all relevant facts and circumstances.

Adoption of the above standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the financial 

performance or position of the Group and the Company except for those discussed below:

MFRS 127 Separate Financial Statements (IAS 27 as amended 

by IASB in May 2011)
MFRS 128 Investment in Associate and Joint Ventures (IAS 28

 as amended by IASB in May 2011)
IC Interpretation 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of

 a Surface Mine
Amendments to MFRS 7: Disclosures – Offsetting Financial

 Assets and Financial Liabilities

Amendments to MFRS 10, MFRS 11 and MFRS 12:

 Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint Arrangements and

 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: Transition Guidance
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5. New and amended standards and interpretations (continued)

MFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities

MFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

MFRS 127 Separate Financial Statements

6. New and amended standards issued but not yet effective

Effective for annual periods

Description beginning on or after

1 January 2014

1 January 2014

1 January 2014

Amendments to MFRS 101: Presentation of Financial Statements (Presentation of Items of 

Other Comprehensive Income)

The amendments to MFRS 101 change the grouping of items presented in other 

comprehensive income. Items that could be reclassified (or recycled) to profit or loss at a future 

point in time would be presented separately from items which will never be reclassified. The 

amendments affect presentation only and have no impact on the Group's or the Company's 

financial position and performance. 

MFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under MFRS for all fair value measurements. 

MFRS 13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather provides 

guidance on how to measure fair value under MFRS when fair value is required or permitted. 

The standard has no impact on the Group's and the Company's financial position or 

performance.

MFRS 12 includes all disclosure requirements for interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, 

associates and structured entities. A number of new disclosures are required and these have 

been disclosed in Note 19(b).

Amendments to MFRS 132: Offsetting Financial Assets and

 Financial Liabilities

Amendments to MFRS 10, MFRS 12 and MFRS 127:

 Investment Entities

Amendments to MFRS 136: Recoverable Amount Disclosures

 for Non-Financial Assets 

As a consequence of the new MFRS 10 and MFRS 12, MFRS 127 is limited to accounting for 

subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates in the separate financial statements of the 

Company. 

The standards and interpretations that are issued but not yet effective up to the date of 

issuance of the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements are disclosed below. The 

Group and the Company intend to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become 

effective.  
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6. New and amended standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

Effective for annual periods

Description beginning on or after

1 January 2014

IC Interpretation 21 Levies 1 January 2014

1 July 2014

Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle 1 July 2014

Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2011–2013 Cycle 1 July 2014

To be announced

To be announced

To be announced

MFRS 9 Financial instruments

These amendments provide relief from discontinuing hedge accounting when novation of a 

derivative designated as a hedging instrument meets certain criteria. No derivatives were 

novated during the current period. However, these amendments would be considered for future 

novation.

Amendments to MFRS 139 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting

MFRS 9, as issued, reflects the first phase of the work on replacement of MFRS 139 and 

applies to classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities as defined 

in MFRS 139. The standard was initially effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2013, but Amendments to MFRS 9: Mandatory Effective Date of MFRS 9 and 

Transition Disclosures, issued in March 2012, moved the mandatory effective date to 1 January 

2015. Subsequently, on 14 February 2014, it was announced that the new effective date will be 

decided when the project is closer to completion. The adoption of the first phase of MFRS 9 will 

have an effect on the classification and measurement of the financial assets, but will not have 

an impact on classification and measurements of the financial liabilities. The effect will be 

quantified in conjunction with the other phases, when the final standard including all phases is 

issued.

The directors expect that the adoption of the above standards and interpretations will have no 

material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application except as 

disclosed below:

Amendments to MFRS 139: Novation of Derivatives and

 Continuation of Hedge Accounting

Amendments to MFRS 119: Defined Benefit Plans: Employee

 Contributions 

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in

 November 2009)

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in

 October 2010)

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Hedge Accounting and

 amendments to MFRS 9, MFRS 7 and MFRS 139 
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7. Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions

7.1 Judgments made in applying accounting policies

7.2 Estimates and assumptions

(a) Impairment of goodwill

(b) Impairment of loans and receivables

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and at other times which such indicators 

exist. This required an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to 

which goodwill is allocated.

When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate future 

cash flows from the cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in 

order to calculate the present values of those cash flows. Further details of the 

carrying value, the key assumptions applied in the impairment assessment and 

sensitivity analysis to changes in the assumptions are disclosed in Note 20. 

The impairment loss on trade receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation 

of collectability and ageing analysis of the receivables and on management's 

judgment. A considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the 

ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current credit-worthiness and 

the past collection history on each receivables. If the financial conditions of the 

receivables of the Group were to deteriorate, additional provision may be required.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has not made 

any critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which significantly affect 

the amounts recognised in these financial statements.  

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation 

uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, 

are described below. Assumptions and estimates are based on parameters available 

when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions 

about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or 

circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the 

assumptions when they occur. 

The preparation of the Group's and the Company's financial statements requires management 

to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, 

expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the 

reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in 

outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability 

affected in future periods.
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7. Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued)

7.2 Estimates and assumptions (continued)

(c) Taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations, 

changes in tax laws, and the amount and timing of future taxable income. 

Differences arising between the actual results and the assumptions made, or future 

changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to tax income 

and expense already recorded.

The Group establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible 

consequences of audits by the tax authorities. The amount of such provisions is 

based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits and differing 

interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the responsible tax 

authority. Such differences of interpretation may arise on a wide variety of issues 

depending on the conditions prevailing in the respective Group and its subsidiaries 

domicile. As the Group assesses the probability for litigation and subsequent cash 

outflow with respect to taxes as remote, no contingent liability has been recognised. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unutilised tax losses and unused tax 

credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 

which the losses and credits can be utilised. Significant management judgment is 

required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, 

based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits together with 

future tax planning strategies. 

The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised tax losses and tax credits of 

the Group is disclosed in Note 27. 
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8. Revenue

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Sales of goods 245,625   229,336   -          -          

Dividend income from subsidiaries -          -          5,227       7,182       

Management fees from subsidiaries -          -          105          227          

245,625   229,336   5,332       7,409       

9. Interest income

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Interest income from:

Loans and receivables 116          70            107          4              

10. Other income

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Bad debts recovered 196          18            

Commission received -          78            

Realised gain on foreign exchange 107          29            

Unrealised gain on foreign exchange 64            -          

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 176          -          

Rental from operating leases 219          235          

Reversal of allowance for impairment loss on trade receivables

 (Note 22(a)) 695          31            

Miscellaneous 292          195          

1,749       586          

11. Finance costs

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Interest expense on:

- Bank loans and overdrafts 3,100       3,183       

- Obligations under finance leases 271          219          
3,371       3,402       

      Group     Company

      Group

      Group     Company

Group
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12. Profit before tax

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Auditors’ remuneration

149          134          35            33            

    Company 25            41            20            -          

Bad debts written off 669          276          -          -          

Carriage inwards and outwards 13,038     10,778     -          -          

Depreciation and amortisation:

9,815       8,500       -          -          

130          131          -          -          

Employee  benefits expense (Note 13) 23,057     20,322     9              9              

Impairment loss on financial assets

-          29            -          -          

-          118          -          -          

Non-executive directors' remuneration

 (Note 14) 153          153          105          105          

Operating lease:

624          382          -          -          

Loss on disposal of property, plant and

 equipment -          791          -          -          

Property, plant and equipment written off 1,530       1,092       -          -          

13. Employee benefits expense

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Wages and salaries 19,896     17,451     9              9              

Contributions to defined contribution

  plans 1,758       1,543       -          -          

Social security contributions 193          142          -          -          

Other benefits 1,210       1,186       -          -          

23,057     20,322     9              9              

    Company      Group

The following amounts have been charged in arriving at profit before tax:

- Statutory audit (current year)

- Other services provided by auditor of the

- Property, plant and equipment  (Note 17)

- Land use rights (Note 18)

- Trade receivables (Note 22(a))

- Other receivables (Note 22(b))

- Minimum lease payments on land and 

    buildings

Included in employee benefits expense of the Group and of the Company are executive 

directors’ remuneration amounting to RM2,127,000 and RM9,000 (2012: RM2,006,000 and 

RM9,000) respectively as further disclosed in Note 14. 

    Company      Group
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14. Directors' remuneration

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Executive directors

Directors of the Company:

- Fees 282          282          -          -          

- Salaries and other emoluments 1,265       1,175       9              9              

- Defined contribution plans 88            85            -          -          

1,635       1,542       9              9              

Other directors of subsidiaries:

- Salaries and other emoluments 438          412          -          -          

- Defined contribution plans 54            52            -          -          

492          464          -          -          

Total executive directors' remuneration

 (excluding benefits-in-kind) (Note 13) 2,127       2,006       9              9              

Estimated money value of benefits-in-kind -          16            -          -          

Total executive directors' remuneration

 (including benefits-in-kind) 2,127       2,022       9              9              

Non-executive directors (Note 12)

Directors of the Company:

- Fees 144          144          96            96            

- Other emoluments 9              9              9              9              

153          153          105          105          

Total directors' remuneration 2,280       2,175       114          114          

2013 2012

Executive directors

RM200,001 to RM250,000 1              1              

RM350,001 to RM400,000 -          -          

RM450,001 to RM500,000 -          -          

RM500,001 to RM550,000 -          -          

RM550,001 to RM600,000 1              1              

RM600,001 to RM650,000 -          -          

RM650,001 to RM700,000 -          -          

RM700,001 to RM750,000 -          -          

RM750,001 to RM800,000 -          1              

RM800,001 to RM850,000 1              -          

Non-executive directors

RM50,001 to RM100,000 3              3              

The number of directors of the Company who held office during the financial year, whose total 

annual remuneration received from the Group that fell within the following bands is analysed 

below:

      Group     Company
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15. Income tax expense

Major components of income tax expense

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Statements of comprehensive income

Current income tax:

- Malaysian income tax 992          935          1,307       1,800       

- Under/(over) provision in prior years 132          (198)         142          -          

1,124       737          1,449       1,800       

Deferred tax (Note 27):

- Origination and reversal of

    temporary differences 1,758       384          -          -          

- (Over)/under provision in prior years (517)         40            -          -          

1,241       424          -          -          

Income tax expense recognised 

 in profit or loss 2,365       1,161       1,449       1,800       

Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting profit

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Profit before tax 10,538     8,606       5,169       7,154       

Taxation at 25% (2012: 25%) 2,635       2,152       1,292       1,789       

Tax effect of:

- Non-deductible expenses 608          748          15            11            

- Non-taxable income (100)         (88)          -          -          

Deferred tax asset recognised on:

- Unabsorbed capital allowances (16)          (157)         -          -          

- Unabsorbed reinvestment allowances -          (954)         -          -          

- Unutilised tax losses (377)         (382)         -          -          

Under/(over) provision in prior years:

- Current income tax 132          (198)         142          -          

- Deferred tax (517)         40            -          -          

Income tax expense recognised 

 in profit or loss 2,365       1,161       1,449       1,800       

    Company      Group

    Company

The reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the 

applicable corporate tax rate for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2013 is as follows: 

      Group
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15. Income tax expense (continued)

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Unutilised tax losses 2,144       2,907       

Unabsorbed capital allowances 2,740       2,791       

Unabsorbed reinvestment allowances 16,180     21,833     

21,064     27,531     

16. Earnings per share

2013 2012

Profit, net of tax, attributable to owners of the parent (RM'000) 8,032       7,285       

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue ('000)* 74,215     74,224     

Basic earnings per share (sen) 10.8         9.8           

Diluted earnings per share (sen) 10.8         9.8           

*

      Group

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit, net of tax, attributable 

to owners of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 

the financial year.

The following amounts are available for offset against future taxable income:

Diluted earnings per share are the same as the basic earnings per share as there are no 

dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

      Group

The weighted average number of ordinary shares takes into account the weighted 

average effect of changes in treasury shares transactions during the year.

The Malaysian corporate income tax rate is expected to reduce from 25% to 24% with effect 

from year of assessment 2016 as announced in the 2014 Budget. The reduction in income tax 

rate has no significant impact to the Group and the Company. 
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17. Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold Factory Plant and  Other

land  buildings machinery assets Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Group

Cost

At 1 January 2012 11,768       42,257      109,885     7,813      171,723    

Additions -             399           13,020       1,938      15,357      

Disposals -             -            (6,454)        (707)        (7,161)      

Written off -             -            (2,910)        (519)        (3,429)      

Reclassification -             -            50              (50)          -           

At 31 December 2012/

 1 January 2013 11,768       42,656      113,591     8,475      176,490    

Additions -             1,128        9,223         1,184      11,535      

Disposals -             -            (1,508)        (306)        (1,814)      

Written off -             -            (6,872)        (18)          (6,890)      

Reclassification (226)           226           -             -          -           

At 31 December 2013 11,542       44,010      114,434     9,335      179,321    

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2012 1,626         10,942      55,338       6,220      74,126      

Charge for the year (Note 12) 127            1,109        6,483         781         8,500        

Disposals -             -            (4,947)        (689)        (5,636)      

Written off -             -            (1,829)        (508)        (2,337)      

Reclassification -             (2)              88              (86)          -           

At 31 December 2012/

 1 January 2013 1,753         12,049      55,133       5,718      74,653      

Charge for the year (Note 12) 128            1,121        7,640         926         9,815        

Disposals -             -            (1,486)        (281)        (1,767)      

Written off -             -            (5,344)        (16)          (5,360)      

At 31 December 2013 1,881         13,170      55,943       6,347      77,341      

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2012 10,015       30,607      58,458       2,757      101,837    

At 31 December 2013 9,661         30,840      58,491       2,988      101,980    

(a)

(b)

The leasehold land and factory buildings and certain plant and machinery are pledged to 

secure bank borrowings as disclosed in Note 25.

Other assets comprise motor vehicles, office equipment, furniture, fittings and office 

renovation. 
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17. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(c)

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Cash       8,834       10,879 

Obligations under finance leases       2,701         4,478 

    11,535       15,357 

(d)

18. Land use rights 

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Cost

At 1 January / 31 December 5,535      5,535        

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 1,113      982          

Amortisation (Note 12) 130         131          

At 31 December 1,243      1,113        

Carrying amount 4,292      4,422        

Amount to be amortised: 130         131          

- Not later than one year 522         524          

- Later than one year but not later than 5 years 3,640      3,767        

- Later than 5 years 4,292      4,422        

The above properties are pledged to secure bank borrowings as referred to in Note 25.

     Group

The carrying amount of plant and machinery held under finance leases at the reporting 

date were RM9,273,000 (2012: RM6,748,000).

Property, plant and equipment purchased by the Group during the financial year were by 

means of: 
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19. Investment in subsidiaries

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Unquoted shares at cost 94,158        85,085        

Name of subsidiaries Principal activities

2013 2012

Ornapaper Industry Manufacturing and sale of  100% 100%

 (M) Sdn. Bhd.  corrugated boards and carton boxes

Ornapaper Industry Manufacturing and sale of carton 100% 100%

 (Batu Pahat) Sdn. Bhd.  boxes

Ornapaper Industry Manufacturing and sale of  100% 100%

 (Perak) Sdn. Bhd.  corrugated boards and carton boxes

Quantum Rhythm Sdn. Manufacturing and sale of carton 100% 100%

 Bhd. #  boxes

Tripack Packaging Manufacturing and sale of carton 100% 100%

 (M) Sdn. Bhd. #  boxes

Ornapaper Industry Manufacturing and sale of carton 80% 80%

 (Johor) Sdn. Bhd. #  boxes

# Not audited by Ernst & Young

(a) Subscription of additional shares in subsidiaries

 ownership interest 

          Company

Details of the subsidiaries, which are all incorporated in Malaysia, are as follows:

 Proportion of  

During the year, the Company subscribed for an additional 3,073,000, 3,500,000 and 

2,500,000 new ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in Ornapaper Industry (M) Sdn Bhd,  

Ornapaper Industry (Batu Pahat) Sdn. Bhd. and Quantum Rhythm Sdn. Bhd. for a cash 

consideration of RM3,073,000, RM3,500,000 and RM2,500,000 respectively. The 

proportion of ownership interest in the subsidiaries held by the Company remains 

unchanged.
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19. Investment in subsidiaries (continued)

(b) Material partly-owned subsidiary

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

20% 20%

Carrying amount of NCI 898             757             

Profit allocated to NCI 141             160             

As at 31 December

Non-current assets 4,795          4,674          

Current assets 8,758          8,909          

Non-current liabilities (1,406)        (1,761)        

Current liabilities (7,660)        (8,038)        

Net assets 4,487          3,784          

Year ended 31 December

Revenue 25,942        26,988        

Profit for the year 705             800             

Summarised cash flow information

Cash inflows from operating activities 517             1,401          

Cash outflows from investing activities (692)           (350)           

Cash outflows from financing activities (252)           (656)           

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (427)           395             

20. Goodwill

Impairment tests for goodwill

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Ornapaper Industry (Perak) Sdn. Bhd. ("OIP") 1,574          1,574          

Ornapaper Industry (Johor) Sdn. Bhd. ("OIJ") 59              59              
1,633          1,633          

         Group

Financial information of a subsidiary, Ornapaper Industry (Johor) Sdn. Bhd., which has 

material non-controlling interest ("NCI"), is set out as follows:

NCI percentage of ownership interest and voting

 interest

Summarised financial information before intra group

 elimination

Goodwill arising from business combinations has been allocated to two individual CGUs 

identified according to the subsidiaries for impairment testing, the carrying amount of which are 

as follows:
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20. Goodwill (continued)

2013 2012 2013 2012

Budgeted gross margins 23% 23% 19% 18%

Growth rate 3% 3% 5% 5%

Pre-tax discount rate 7% 8% 7% 8%

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations using 

cash flow projections of financial budgets approved by management covering a 5 year period. 

The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections and the forecast growth rates 

used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the five-year period are as follows:

              OIP

The calculations of value in use for the CGUs are most sensitive to the following assumptions:

Pre-tax discount rates  – Discount rates reflect the current market assessment of the risks 

specific to each CGU. This is the benchmark used by management to assess operating 

performance and to evaluate future investment proposals. In determining the appropriate 

discount rates for each CGU, regard has been given to the yield on a 10 year government 

bond at the beginning of the budgeted year. 

Growth rates  - The forecast growth rates are based on published industry research and do not 

exceed the long-term average growth rate for the industries relevant to the CGUs. 

Budgeted gross margins  - Gross margins are based on average values achieved in the 3 

years preceding the start of the budget period. These are increased over the budget period for 

anticipated efficiency improvements.

         OIJ

Market share assumptions  – These assumptions are important because, as well as using 

industry data for growth rates (as noted above), management assesses how the CGU’s 

position, relative to its competitors, might change over the budget period. Management 

expects the Group’s share of the electronics and related market on which the Group's products 

are dependent upon, to be stable over the budget period. 

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions  – With regard to the assessment of value-in-use of 

CGUs, the management believes that no reasonable change in any of the above key 

assumptions would cause the carrying value of the CGUs to materially exceed their 

recoverable amounts. 
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21. Inventories

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

At cost:

Raw materials and consumables 28,033        20,308        

Work-in-progress 124             166             

Finished goods 5,315          2,120          
33,472        22,594        

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 163,814      149,584      

22. Trade and other receivables

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Trade receivables

Third parties 61,708         55,803         -                 -                 

Allowance for impairment (2,142)          (3,344)          -                 -                 

Trade receivables, net 59,566         52,459         -                 -                 

Other receivables

Third parties 1,795           2,721           -                 -                 

Subsidiaries -                   -                  2                4,965          

Sundry deposits 205              185              3                3                

2,000           2,906           5                4,968          

Allowance for impairment

 - Third parties (736)             (736)             -                 -                 

Other receivables, net 1,264           2,170           5                4,968          

Total trade and other receivables 60,830         54,629         5                4,968          

Total trade and other receivables 60,830         54,629         5                4,968          

Add: Cash and bank balances

 (Note 24) 10,044         19,111         2,130          2,453          

Total loans and receivables 70,874         73,740         2,135          7,421          

(a) Trade receivables

         Group

         Group          Company

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 120 (2012: 30 to 

120) days terms. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent 

their fair values on initial recognition. 
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22. Trade and other receivables (continued)

(a) Trade receivables (continued)

Ageing analysis of trade receivables

The ageing analysis of the Group's trade receivables is as follows: 

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Neither past due nor impaired 42,916        42,467        

1 to 30 days past due not impaired 11,319        5,249          

31 to 60 days past due not impaired 3,206          1,143          

More than 61 days past due not impaired 2,125          1,859          

Total past due not impaired         16,650           8,251 

Impaired           2,142           5,085 

        61,708         55,803 

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired 

Receivables that are past due but not impaired 

Receivables that are impaired 

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Individually impaired

Trade receivables - nominal amounts 2,142          5,085          

Less: Allowance for impairment (2,142)        (3,344)        

-                 1,741          

         Group

         Group

Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with 

good payment records with the Group. None of these trade receivables have been 

renegotiated during the financial year.

Trade receivables that are past due but not impaired are active accounts which the 

management considers to be recoverable. These receivables are not secured by any 

collateral or credit enhancements. 

Trade receivables that are individually impaired and the movement of the allowance 

accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:

Trade receivables that are determined to be individually impaired relate to those debtors 

that are in significant financial difficulties and/or have defaulted on payments. These 

receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements.
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22. Trade and other receivables (continued)

(a) Trade receivables (continued)

Receivables that are impaired (continued)

Movement in allowance accounts:

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 3,344          3,346          
Charge for the year (Note 12) -                 29              
Reversal of impairment losses (Note 10) (695)           (31)             
Bad debts written off (507)           -                 
At 31 December 2,142          3,344          

(b) Other receivables

Subsidiaries

Other receivables that are impaired

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Individually impaired

Other receivables - nominal amounts 755             755             

Less: Allowance for impairment (736)           (736)           

19              19              

Movement in allowance accounts:

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 736             618             

Charge for the year (Note 12) -                 118             
At 31 December 736             736             

Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured and repayable on demand. 

         Group

         Group

         Group

Other receivables that are individually determined to be impaired relate to debtors that 

have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit 

enhancements.

Other receivables that are individually impaired and the movement of the allowance 

accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:

Other information on financial risks of trade and other receivable are disclosed in Note 37.
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23. Other current assets

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Advanced payment to supplier of

 property, plant and equipment 4,378           222              -                 -                 

Deposits for purchase of:

- Property, plant and equipment 10                1,027           -                 -                 

Prepayments 504              390              1                1                
4,892           1,639           1                1                

24. Cash and bank balances

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Statement of financial position:

Cash on hand and at banks 7,478           18,256         2,130          2,453          

Short term deposits with licensed

 banks 2,566           855              -                 -                 
Cash and bank balances 10,044         19,111         2,130          2,453          

Statement of cash flows:

Cash and bank balances 7,478           18,256         2,130          2,453          

Bank overdrafts (Note 25) (3,672)          (1,894)          -                 -                 

Cash and cash equivalents 3,806           16,362         2,130          2,453          

Short term deposits are made for period of 12 (2012: 6 to 12) months The weighted average 

effective interest rate at the reporting date for the Group was 3.6% (2012: 3.2%) per annum. 

The above amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

         Group          Company

         Group          Company

Deposits with a licensed bank of the Company are pledged as securities for borrowings as 

referred to in Note 25.

Other information on financial risk of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in Note 37.
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25. Borrowings

2013 2012

Maturity RM'000 RM'000

Current

Secured:

Bank overdrafts (Note 24) On demand 3,672          1,894          

Bankers' acceptances 2014 40,730        48,354        

Trust receipts 2014 3,211          1,775          

Term loans 2014 2,486          2,204          

Finance lease payables (Note 33(b)) 2014 1,090          1,033          

51,189        55,260        

Non-current

Secured:

Term loans 2015 to 2017 5,048          6,607          

Finance lease payables (Note 33(b)) 2015 to 2018 2,686          2,499          

7,734          9,106          

Total borrowings 58,923        64,366        

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

On demand or within one year 51,189        55,260        

Later than one year and not later than 2 years 3,734          3,126          

Later than 2 years and not later than 5 years 4,000          5,980          

58,923        64,366        

(a) Bank overdrafts

(b) Bankers' acceptances and trust receipts

The remaining maturities of the borrowings as at 31 December 2013 and 2012 are as follows:

Bank overdrafts are denominated in RM, bear interest on an average of 7.98% (2012: 

8.29%) per annum.

These are used to finance purchases of the Group denominated in RM and are short term 

in nature. The weighted average effective interest rate is 3.50% to 7.85% (2012: 3.50% to 

4.06%) per annum. 

         Group

         Group
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25. Borrowings (continued)

(c) Term loans

(d) Obligations under finance leases

26. Trade and other payables

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Trade payables

Third parties 23,292         16,673         -             -             

Other payables

Accrued operating expenses 4,131           2,934           35              33              

Other payables 2,782           3,514           1                -             

6,913           6,448           36              33              

Total trade and other payables 30,205         23,121         36              33              

Total trade and other payables 30,205         23,121         36              33              

Add: Borrowings (Note 25) 58,923         64,366         -             -             

Total financial liabilities carried at

 amortised cost 89,128         87,487         36              33              

(a) Trade payables

(b) Other payables

Other payables are non-interest bearing and normally settled on an average of 6 (2012: 6) 

months. 

The loans are repayable over a period of 5 years. The weighted average effective interest 

rate is 6.06% to 8.25% (2012: 7.85% to 8.25%) per annum. 

These obligations are secured by a charge over leased assets (Note 17(d)). The average 

discount rate implicit in the leases is 4.25% (2012: 3.44%) per annum. 

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 120 (2012: 30 

to 120) days terms.  

The borrowings are secured by the Group's leasehold land and factory buildings and certain 

other assets and a debenture covering fixed and floating charges over all the assets and 

properties as disclosed in Notes 17, 18 and 24. The borrowings are additionally guaranteed by 

certain directors of the Company.

Other information on financial risk of borrowings are disclosed in Note 37. 

         Group          Company
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27. Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January (3,729)        (3,305)        

Recognised in income statement (Note 15) (1,241)        (424)           

At 31 December (4,970)        (3,729)        

Reflected in the statement of financial position as follows:

- Deferred tax assets 1,673          1,170          

- Deferred tax liabilities (6,643)        (4,899)        

(4,970)        (3,729)        

Deferred tax relates to the following:

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Property, plant and equipment (10,236)        (10,226)                     (10)             (560)

Unutilised tax losses 536              350                           186              350 

Unabsorbed capital allowances 685              682                               3              262 

Unabsorbed reinvestment

 allowances 4,045           5,458                    (1,413)             (747)

Others -               7                  (7)               271             

(4,970)          (3,729)          (1,241)        (424)           

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Unutilised tax losses -             1,507          

Unabsorbed capital allowances -             63              

-             1,570          

The following items were not recognised for deferred tax assets as they are not expected to be 

utilised by taxable profits or available temporary differences in the foreseeable future:

            Statements of

            financial position  

         Group

  Statements of

comprehensive income 

         Group
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28. Share capital

Number of shares

2013 2012 2013 2012

'000 '000 RM'000 RM'000

Authorised

Shares of RM1 each 100,000       100,000       100,000      100,000      

Issued and fully paid

Ordinary shares of RM1 each 75,251         75,251         75,251        75,251        

29. Share premium

30. Treasury shares

The holders of ordinary shares (except treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as 

and when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without 

restrictions and rank equally with regard to the Company residual assets.

          Amount 

This non-distributable share premium arose from the issue of shares at a premium in previous 

years.

Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares in the Company that are held by the Company. The 

amount consists of the acquisition costs of treasury shares.

The Company acquired 71,400 (2012: 1,027,045) shares in the Company through purchases 

on the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad during the financial year. The total amount paid to 

acquire the shares was RM52,291 (2012: RM489,000) and this was presented as a component 

within shareholders' equity. At the reporting date, the Company held 1,098,445 (2012: 

1,027,045) ordinary shares of RM1 each as treasury shares in accordance with Section 67A of 

the Companies Act, 1965.

The directors of the Company are committed to enhancing the value of the Company for its 

shareholders and believe that the repurchase plan can be applied in the best interests of the 

Company and its shareholders. The repurchase transactions were financed by internally 

generated funds. The shares repurchased are being held as treasury shares.
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31. Retained earnings

32. Related party disclosures

(a) Sale and purchase of goods and services 

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

With subsidiaries

Management fee charged to:

- Ornapaper Industry (M) 

   Sdn. Bhd. -               -               58              150             

- Ornapaper Industry (Perak)

   Sdn. Bhd -               -               35              50              

- Ornapaper Industry

   (Batu Pahat) Sdn. Bhd. -               -               12              27              

Dividend received from:

- Ornapaper Industry (M)

   Sdn. Bhd. -               -               2,727          5,682          

- Ornapaper Industry (Perak)

   Sdn. Bhd -               -               2,500          1,500          

         Group

Prior to the year of assessment 2008, Malaysian companies adopted the full imputation 

system. In accordance with the Finance Act 2007 which was gazetted on 28 December 2007, 

companies shall not be entitled to deduct tax on dividends paid, credited or distributed to its 

shareholders, and such dividends will be exempted from tax in the hands of the shareholders 

("single tier system"). However, there is a transitional period of six years, expiring on 31 

December 2013, to allow companies to pay franked dividends to their shareholders under 

limited circumstances. Companies also have an irrevocable option to disregard the 108 

balance and opt to pay dividends under the single tier system. The change in the tax 

legislation also provides for the 108 balance to be locked-in as at 31 December 2007 in 

accordance with Section 39 of the Finance Act 2007.

The Company did not elect for the irrevocable option to disregard the 108 balance. 

Accordingly, during the transitional period, the Company may utilise the credit in the 108 

balance to distribute cash dividend payments to ordinary shareholders as defined under the 

Finance Act 2007. As at 31 December 2012, the Company has sufficient credit in the 108 

balance and tax exempt profits to franked dividends out of its entire retained earnings. Any 108 

balance which has not been utilised as at 31 December 2013 is disregarded. Thereafter, the 

Company may distribute dividends out of its entire retained earnings under the single tier 

system.

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial 

statements, the following significant transactions between the Group and related parties 

took place at terms agreed between the parties during the financial year: 

          Company
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32. Related party disclosures (continued)

(a) Sale and purchase of goods and services (continued)

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

With other related parties

Sales to: 

- Perfect Food Manufacturing

   (M) Sdn. Bhd. 4,992           4,099           -             -             

- Greatbrand Food Industries

   Sdn. Bhd. 1,318           1,312           -             -             

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Salaries and wages 12              12              

Defined contribution plans 2                2                

14              14              

33. Commitments

(a) Capital commitments

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Capital expenditure approved and contracted for:

- Property, plant and equipment 838             2,373          

         Group           Company

         Group

         Group

Other related parties are companies in which a director of the Company, Sai Chin Hock, 

has substantial financial interest. 

In addition to the directors' remuneration as disclosed in Note 14, the salaries and other 

related amounts payable to key management personnel are as follows:

The directors are of the opinion that the transactions above have been entered into in the 

normal course of business and have been established on terms and conditions that are 

not materially different from those obtainable in transaction with other parties.
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33. Commitments (continued)

(b) Finance lease commitments

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Minimum lease payments:

Not later than one year 1,304          1,233          

Later than one year and not later than 2 years 1,258          954             

Later than 2 years and not later than 5 years 1,650          1,813          

Total minimum lease payments 4,212          4,000          

Less: Amounts representing future finance charges (436)           (468)           

Present value of minimum lease payments 3,776          3,532          

Present value of finance lease payables:

Not later than one year 1,090          1,033          

Later than one year and not later than 2 years 1,121          811             

Later than 2 years and not later than 5 years 1,565          1,688          

Present value of minimum lease payments 3,776          3,532          

Less: Amount due within 12 months (Note 25) (1,090)        (1,033)        

Amount due after 12 months (Note 25) 2,686          2,499          

34. Operating lease arrangements

2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000

Not later than one year -             28              

Later than one year but not later than 2 years -             1                

-             29              

         Group

         Group

The Group has entered into non-cancellable operating lease agreements for the use of land 

and buildings. The leases have an average life of between two to three years with renewal 

options in the contracts. Such contracts include fixed monthly rentals. The future aggregate 

minimum lease payments under such leases as at the reporting date but not included as 

liabilities are as follows: 

The Company has finance leases for certain items of motor vehicles, office equipment 

and plant and machinery (Note 17). These leases do not have terms of renewal, but have 

purchase options at nominal values at the end of the lease term. 

Future minimum lease payments under finance leases together with the present value of 

the net minimum lease payments are as follows: 
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35. Material litigation

36. Fair value of financial instruments 

2013 2012 2013 2012

Note RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Trade and other

 receivables 22          60,830          54,629 5                4,968          

Cash and bank balances 24          10,044          19,111 2,130          2,453          

Borrowings 25          58,923          64,366 -               -               

Trade and other

 payables 26          30,205          23,121 36              33              

37. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The carrying amounts of borrowings are reasonable approximation of their fair values as the 

interest charge on these borrowings are pegged to, or close to, market interest rates near or at 

reporting date.

Financial liabilities, comprise loans and borrowings, trade and other payables, and financial 

guarantee contracts. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Group’s 

and the Company's operations and to provide guarantees to support its operations. Financial 

assets include trade and other receivables and cash and short-term deposits that derive 

directly from its operations.

There was no material litigation against the Group, except that the Court of Appeal had 

ordered a wholly-owned subsidiary of the company, Ornapaper Industry (M) Sdn. Bhd. to 

recognise the Paper and Paper Products Manufacturing Employees Union.

The following are classes of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose 

carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value:

The carrying amounts of the trade and other receivables and trade and other payables are 

reasonable approximation of their fair values due to their relatively short maturity periods. 

         Group           Company

Financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are 

reasonable approximation of fair value
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37. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(a) Market risk 

(b) Interest rate risk

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

The information on maturity dates and effective interest rates of financial assets and 

liabilities are disclosed in their respective notes.

The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s senior 

management oversees the management of these risks and ensures that the Group’s financial 

risk activities are governed by appropriate policies and procedures and that financial risks are 

identified, measured and managed in accordance with the Group’s policies and risk objectives. 

All derivative activities for risk management purposes are carried out by senior management 

who have the appropriate skills, experience and supervision. It is the Group’s policy that no 

trading in derivatives for speculative purposes may be undertaken. The Group do not apply 

hedge accounting. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of 

these risks, which are summarised below.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises interest rate risk 

and foreign exchange currency risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include 

deposits, loans and borrowings.

Based on the utilisation of floating rate loans and borrowings throughout the reporting 

period, if interest rates had been 50 basis point lower (or higher), with all other variables 

held constant, the Group's profit before tax would have been RM276,000 (2012: 

RM317,000) higher (or lower), arising mainly as a result of lower (or higher) interest 

expense that would have been incurred. The assumed movement in basis points for 

interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable market environment.

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-bearing borrowings. The 

Group manages its interest rate exposure by maintaining a prudent mix of fixed and 

floating rate borrowings and actively review its debt portfolio taking into account the 

investment holding period and nature of its assets. 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 

will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 
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37. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(c) Foreign currency risk

SGD USD Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 31 December 2013

Trade and other receivables 450              324             774             

Trade and other payables -                (266)           (266)           

Cash and bank balances 212              97              309             

662              155             817             

At 31 December 2012

Trade and other receivables               353              212              565 

Cash and bank balances                 53                15                68 

              406              227              633 

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

(d) Credit risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 

instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group is exposed to transactional currency risk primarily through sales and 

purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the respective functional 

currencies of the Group entities. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United 

States Dollars ("USD") and Singapore Dollars ("SGD").  Such transactions are kept to an 

acceptable level. 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial 

instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. Exposure to credit risk relates 

to operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and from financing activities, including 

deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions and other 

financial instruments.

The net unhedged financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group companies that are 

not denominated in their functional currencies are as follows:

 Net financial assets/(liabilities) 

   held in non-functional currency 

The hypothetical sensitivity of the Group's profit before tax to a 5% change in the USD 

and SGD exchange rates at the reporting date against RM, assuming all other variables 

remain unchanged, is insignificant. 
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37. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(d) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Trade receivables

Exposure to credit risk

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Financial assets that are either past due or impaired

Information regarding trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor 

impaired is disclosed in Note 22(a). 

Information regarding financial assets that are past due but not impaired is disclosed 

in Note 22(a).

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis 

and in addition, minor receivables are grouped into homogenous groups and 

assessed for impairment collectively. The calculation is based on actual incurred 

historical data. The Group does not hold collateral as security.

At the reporting date, the Group's and the Company's maximum exposure to credit 

risk is represented by the carrying amount of each class of financial assets 

recognised in the statements of financial position, with positive fair value and  a 

nominal amount of RM54,677,000 (2012: RM61,386,000) relating to corporate 

guarantees provided by the Company to financial institutions for credit facilities 

utilised by subsidiaries.

Customer credit risk is managed according to established policy, procedures and 

control relating to customer credit risk management. Credit quality of a customer is 

assessed and approved by the directors who sets out the individual credit limits. 

Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored and financial standings of 

major customers are continuously reviewed.

At the reporting date, approximately 13% (2012 :11%) of the Group's gross trade 

receivables were due from 3 (2012: 2) major customers. 
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37. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(d) Credit risk (continued)

(ii) Cash and short-term deposits

(e) Liquidity risk

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

On demand

or within One to

one year five years Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Group

Trade and other payables          30,205                 -           30,205 

Loans and borrowings          52,223           8,318         60,541 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities          82,428           8,318         90,746 

The maturity profile of the Group's and of the Company's liabilities at the reporting date 

based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations is as follows:

Liquidity risk is the risk that difficulty will be encountered in meeting financial obligations 

due to shortage of funds caused by mismatches of  maturities of financial assets and 

liabilities. The objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and 

flexibility through the use of bank overdrafts, term loans, finance leases and collection 

from customers.

Cash are normally maintained at minimum levels and surplus cash are placed as 

short-term deposits with licensed banks and financial institutions. Such funds are 

reviewed by the directors on a monthly basis and amounts placed as short-term 

deposits may be revised throughout the year. This is to minimise the concentration of 

risks and therefore mitigate financial loss through potential counterparty’s failure to 

make payments. Deposits with banks that are neither past due nor impaired are 

placed with or entered into with reputable financial institutions with no history of 

default.

2013

Debt maturity profile, operating cash flows and the availability of funding are managed so 

as to ensure that refinancing, repayment and funding needs are met. As part of its overall 

liquidity management, sufficient levels of cash or cash convertible investments are 

maintained to meet its working capital requirements. In addition, available banking facilities 

are maintained at a reasonable level to its overall debt position. As far as possible, 

committed funding are raised from financial institutions and balances its portfolio with 

some short term funding so as to achieve overall cost effectiveness.
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37. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(e) Liquidity risk (continued)

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities (continued)

On demand

or within One to

one year five years Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Company

Trade and other payables                 36                 -                  36 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities                 36                 -                  36 

On demand

or within One to

one year five years Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Group

Trade and other payables          23,121                 -           23,121 

Loans and borrowings          55,760           9,784         65,544 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities          78,881           9,784         88,665 

Company

Trade and other payables                 33                 -                  33 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities                 33                 -                  33 

38. Capital management 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 

economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the 

dividend payments to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No 

changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 

December 2013 and 31 December 2012. 

2012

2013

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a 

strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise 

shareholder value. 
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38. Capital management (continued)

Note 2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Loans and borrowings 25 58,923         64,366         -             -             

Trade and other

 payables 26 30,205         23,121         36              33              

Less: Cash and bank

 balances 24 (10,044)        (19,111)        (2,130)        (2,453)        

Net debt 79,084         68,376         -             -             

Equity attributable to 

 owners of the parent 122,340       114,360       96,293        92,625        

Capital and net debt 201,424       182,736       96,293        92,625        

Gearing ratio 39% 37% -             -             

39. Authorisation of financial statements for issue

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus 

net debt. The Group's policy is to keep the gearing ratio within acceptable levels. The Group 

includes within net debt, borrowings, trade and other payables, less cash and bank balances. 

Capital includes equity attributable to equity holders of the Group.  

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 were authorised for issue in 

accordance with a resolution of the directors on 21 April 2014. 

         Company          Group
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40. Supplementary information – Breakdown of retained earnings into realised and unrealised

2013 2012 2013 2012

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000RM'004 RM'000

Total retained earnings of the Company

  and its subsidiaries

- Realised profits        85,526        77,465 10,427       6,707         

- Unrealised losses         (4,970)         (3,729) -            -            

80,556       73,736       10,427       6,707         

Less: Consolidation adjustments (44,082)     (45,294)     -            -            

Retained earnings as per financial

 statements        36,474        28,442 10,427                6,707 

The breakdown of the retained earnings of the Group and of the Company into realised and 

unrealised profits is presented in accordance with the directive issued by Bursa Malaysia 

Securities Berhad dated 25 March 2010 and prepared in accordance with Guidance on Special 

Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of 

Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the 

Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

      Group        Company 
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